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Foreword
It was indeed fortunate that preliminary research by the
Committeecharged with the responsibility of publishing
the present "History of Portland Church " chanced upon a

copy of a Historical Sketch written by the Rev. W.
Mackintosh Mackay, B.D. upon the occasion of the

Jubilee of the Troon Free Church on 9th May, 1893. Mr.
Magkay, minister from 1891-98, gives evidence
throughout of scholarly erudition, of ability to weave a
gripping story and of a deep love for the subject of his
discourse. The Committee had no hesitation in
submitting the sketch as Section I of this Anniversary
History.

The same gifts of lively historical exposition were
already well-known to the many friends of the late Mr.
Jack Hay. His " History of Portland Church 1893-1989" –so

attractively illustrated by Mr. Tom Hay – is adopted as
Section II.

In Section III our readers are appdsed of the present
state of Portland Church by Mr. John Easton, Convener
of the Committee and a Senior Elder of the Church.

Finally, we recommend to our readers the rnoving
and beautifully expressed tribute paid by Mr. Hay as a

"Footnote and Apology " . No more fitting a conclusion
could be drawn to our own commemorative " History of
Portland Church" .
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SECTION I

1843 - 1893

Int70dactory Note

THE JUBILEE of the TroonFreeChurch wascelebrated
on the evening of Tuesday, 9th May, 1893. The Rev.
W. Mackintosh Mackay (pastor) occupied the chair,
and was accompanied to the platform by the former
minister, the Rev. W,M. Macgregor, now of Renfield,
Glasgow, the.Rev. Dr. Livingston of Stair, the Rev. Dr.
McCrie of Ayr, the Rev. Mr. Hamilton ofSymington,
Messrs. Gillies; Paton and Mackie. Congratulatory
speeches were delivered by the gentlemen present
and the following Historical Account of the church
was read by the minister. It is now printed, by the
authority of the Deacons' Court, as a mernorial of the
event.

FREE CHURCH MANSE,
TROON, 1893

W.M.M.
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T has been truly said, that while the present year is the Jubilee
of the Disruption, it is by no means the Jubilee of the FreeI

Church of Scotland. But a little acquaintance with Scottish history
will show that the principles for which our church fought and
sacrificed so much in 1843, were the very same ones as animated the
Church of Scotland all down her history from the Reformation and
even from times long before that. The story of our country is indeed
very much the story of a struggle for freedom, civil and religious and
in contending for "spiritual inddpendence" our Free Church fathers
were only showing themselves the true heirs of all that was best in
Scottish character and Scottish history.

But though not the Jubilee of our Church, the present year may be
said to be in perhaps a special sense the Jubilee of our congregation.
For we had not at Troon the advantage of the minister coming out
himself with his whole congregation, as was the case elsewhere.
There were indeed a large number who did come out, but they had
to do so in spite of their attachment to their minister, and in the face
of all the difficulties of building up what was practically a new
congregation out of scattered elements. The two elders who thus
headed the Disruption movement at Troon are worthy of honourable
mention. Their names were –

MR. JOHN McMURRAY
MR. JAMES ALLAN

They were followed by a body of about 130 members; so that, as a
congregation had only recently been started in connection with the
Church of Scotland in Troon, these must have formed a pretty large
proportion of the original church, probably from one-third to one-
half. The reason of that was due to the peculiar course followed by
the then minister of the parish. Mr. Fleming belonged – as to his
honour it must be said he always did belong, down to the close of his
long life– to the Evangelical Party of the Scottish Church. He was
always to be found on the side of Dr. Chalmers in the divisions in the
Church Courts. He may be said therefore to have educated his people
up to the Disruption, and when that event came off it was confidently
expected that he would be found amongst those who left St. Andrew's
Church on the 18th May, 1843. Instead of that, however, Mr. Fleming

3



pursued the course which was followed by that party called "the
Forty," who thought that the Evangelicals should not leave the
Establishment, but contend inside the Church for Spiritual freedom.
There is no need now of casting a stone at those who have passed
away. Mr. Fleming doubtless thought he had good reasons for what
he did then; but the congregation, whom he had educated up to the
belief that loyalty to the Headship of Christ was something better
than the advantages of Establishment by the State, could not see

them, and the result was that, in spite of their undoubted attachment
to their minister, so many were compelled to seek ministrations
elsewhere.

As was the case in other places, the congregation had no place to
worship when they fir£t .came out, and were compelled, like their
covenanting fathers, to do so in the open-air. It may be interesting to
know that the first place where the new congregation thus met was
on the sand hills beside the sea-shore, on or near the spot where Mr.
Wright's stables now stand. A member, who was then a little girl,
says that she well remembers hearing Dr. Gilbert Burns of Monkton
preach to the young congregation gatherai there on these summer
Sunday mornings. To Dr. Burns, indeed, the congregation owed a
good deal in those days. He was a man of great spiritual earnestness.
A nephew of Robert Burns the poet; it is said he was by no means
proud of the connection! He had made a great sacrifice himself. He
had just built the fine Parish Church, which still stands in Monkton
and it must have been with a sore heart he left it at the Disruption. He
was therefore all the more disappointed with the turn which events
had taken in Troon, and was determined to make up to the people,
so far as he could, for the defection of their minister.

It is a somewhat melancholy fact, that of the 120 or 130 members
who thus "came out" and formed the members of our Free Church,

not a single one remains with us; all have passed away.
It was probably due to Dr. Burns' fostering care that the

congregation was so soon fully organised with a minister of its own.
It is a little to be regretted that no definite account can be found of the
settlement of the Rev. Robert Ross, the first minister of the
congregation. From all that can be discovered he seems to have
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belonged toDarvel, but was engaged as a preacher in Glasgow when
called by the new copgregation. A man of about forty, he appears to
have been then only a licentiate; for an old member recollect$ his
"ordination" as' ''the first ordination in Troon". Whatever be the

circumstances of hR coming, there can be no doubt that the choice
was, in every sense, a good one. Those still remaining with us, who
enjoyed Mr. Ross’s ministrations, speak of him with the utmost
tenderness. He was evidently an earnest and attractive preacher, and
his lectures on the Pilgrim's Progress at the prayer meeting are
remembered to this day . The Session minutes, written by himself, for
he was Session Clerk, show han to have been a man of deep religious
spirit and a faithful pastor. Perhaps it may be interesting to read a
copy of the first Session nrinute of our congregation:-

November 22, 1843

The Session met and was constituted – present the Rev. Robert Ross,
minister; Idm McMurray and faxles Allan, elders.

The Session havingtaken into consieierationthe propriety ofaddingtothe
number of elders, resolve to add four to the present number. They further
took into consideration the minute of the Genera! Assembly of the Free
Church met in October 1ast in Glasgow, regarding the appointment of
deacons,and agreed that six deacons be appointed in compliance with terms
of the said minute, etc., etc. Closed with prayer.

(Signed) ROBERT ROSS, Mod.
This minute shows that Mr. Ross must have been settled sometime

in November – giving a vacancy of about five months – not a long
time in the circumstances. The congregation was fortunate in getting
a church to worship in almost immediately after the Disruption. This
was the present Hospital in Barassie Street, a building which is
interesting as being the birth-place of the three congregations of
Troon – Established, Free and United Presbyterian. Originally, we
believe, it was built by the Seceders; then it passed into the hands of
the Established Church and their new church being just opened in
1842, it was lying empty at the Disruption. For a good number of
years the congregation worshipped there. The floor was stone, and
as it was used for a school during the week days, it could not be. in
very good order; but the old folks say that they seldom enjoyed quch
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good times as they did in the Old Hospital.
As already indicated, Mr. Ross's first work after his settlement was

to proceed to the election of new elders and deacons. It may be
interesting to give the names of those who were thus elected, and
along with the two pre-Disruption elders, formed the original
Deacons’ Court of Troon Free Church. They were: Thomas Wilson,
engineeb Peter Cameron,banker, John WalkeD measurer and George
Brown, tinsmith – elders and John Campbell, shoemaker, John
McDowall, shipper, William Currie, waggoner and James Goudie,
farm servant – deacons. His Deacons’ Court formed, the next thing
was the getting up of a school; for the Free Church at the Disruption
had to undertake the work of educating her children amongst her
many other arduous ddt_id. Things were done cheaply in these days.
The whole expense of building the schoolhouse is calculated at £90.
The teacher’s salary was made up from a grant of£10 from Edinburgh
and the fees. It may be interesting to see the tariff of school fees in
these days –

English
Writing
Arithmetic -

Grammar -

2/6 per Quarter
3/ per Quarter
3/6 per Quarter
4/ per Quarter

It is interesting to notice that Grammar was even then a dear

commodity in Troon! As there were about forty scholars at the
Disruption, this would give a complete school revenue to begin with
of about £:120. Though thus beginning small, the Free Church School
did good service in its day. The last of its teachers was Mr. Jas. Paton,
B.A., whose services still remain for the benefit of the congregation,
though the School was of course taken over by the Board at the
passing of Lord Young's Education Act.

Mr. Ross's preaching attracted large congregations, and a minute
of Session about ayear after his coming shows that the communicants
had already increased to 146. Shortly after that, however, he was
unanimously elected rninister of St. Mark's Church, Glasgow. At first
he absolutely declined the call, but the Glasgow church, evidently
deterr,drIed on their man, elected him a second time. Mr. Ross

6



meanwhile had been prostrated with a severe attack of bronchitis -
a malady which ever since his coming to Troon had attacked him
each succeeding winter. In this sudden stroke he seemed to see the
hand of ProvidQnce, and in a long affectionate letter, which still
remains in the minutes, states the reasons - the chief being the
"strong air" of thd place – which decide him for accepting the
Glasgow call. He left in March, 1846, after a pastorate of about two
years and a half. Unfortunately.he did not long survive the change.
Some two years after- he caught typhus fever while visiting in
Anderston and his feeble body soon sank under it, almost his last
words bUng, "My poor congregation ! "

The Troon congregation has long been honourably known as one
of the most sensible and peaceable, during a vacancy, in the whole
Presbytery of Ayr. Mr. Ross left in March, and only five months after,
on the 18th October, 1846, the Rev. Andrew Cowan was inducted to

the vacant charge. Mr. Cowan had already been minister atDenholm
in the East of Scotland when called to Troon. He came, however, as

a young man, so that practically his whole long ministerial life was
spent here.

Mr. Cowan’s character and work are too vivid in the memory of
most of the congregation to need dwelling on here. He was a man of
many gifts – being almost as well qualified to act as a doctor as a
minister. His valued medical knowledge was always at the service of
the poor, no matter to what denomination they belonged, and during
the time of the great flood, when a low fever set in among the
submerged houses, his generous help was unweariedly given. Many
Roman Catholics remember still the services which he so

ungrudgingly rendered.
Under Mr. Cowan the congregation steadily grew to the number

of about 220, where for many years it remained absolutely stationary.
This was largely due to the stationary character of the town which,
for a generation, groaned under a Duke of Portland, who, living
underground himself, seemed to object to seeing others live above it.
During his long ascendancy almost no feus were given, and while the
towns around were flourishing Troon was slowly dying. Fortunately
a new and liberal regime succeeded with the present Duke, and the
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town has since taken an upward leap.
But although the progress of the church was somewhat slow in

numbers, in other respects it had rnarked prosperity. The most
important of these was thebuilding of the present church. As already
remarked, thepeople worshipped at first in the present Hospital; but
the building was ugly and comfortless, and at length became too
small. In the year 1854 Mr. Cowan launched the scheme of building
a new church before the Deacons’ Court.

It was a heavy task for a congregation so small in numbers and
limited in means; but all went forward to it with a brave heart, and

the present building was opened in 1856. It rnay be worth stating at
a time like this that the.cla.ck in the church steeple is an interesting
relic of Dr. Chalmers. '.it was originally the dock in the old Tron
Church in Glasgow – the church where he began his ministry in the
western metropolis.

The complete cost of 'the building at that time was £1500; since
then, however, it has been a good deal altered. A new "false" roof had
to be put in. The walls also gave signs of yielding at the top under the
enormous pressure of slates and the new rafters, and these had to be

buttressed by the present handsome buttresses attheside. Altogether
the church with improvements from time to time may be said to have
cost£2,200. The congregation did good part in bearing the burden of
this heavy debt; but it must be admitted that the heaviest part of it
was borne by Mr. Cowan himself, who collected large sums for its
removal. The last labour of his life was the getting up of a bazaar
which wholly cleared off the remaining debt on the church and
manse. As a result the Deacons’ Court were left with a large surplus,
and Mr. Cowan had the satisfaction of knowing that he had left the
congregation, which he had found so poor, with a church and manse,
and a handsome balance at the bank.

The other great event of Mr. Cowan’s ministry was the great
revival of 1859; which, beginning in Ireland, swept over the whole
country, and did not pass Troon without leaving rich and lasting
results. For a time meetings were held daily in the church and at the
Communion there were no less than 22 young members who came
forward to make public profession of Christ – the largest number of
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young communicants in the history of the congregation. Some of
these, no doubt, fell away – that happens in every such work- but the
names of many who -thus were gathered in testify to the lasting
results of this great movement. Several lesser spiritual revivals have
taken place since, but none of the power or importance of 1859; and
perhaps the very best result of a meeting like this would be the
renewal of the old Psalmist's prayer – " Wilf thou not at this time revive
us agaIn .

After the great revival of 1859'the course of Mr. Cowan's ministry
ran along in even tenour to its close. In 1870 a slight break-down
showed gigns of advancing age; but a three months’ holiday in
Montreux revived his drooping energies, and for sixteen years after
he continued to labour amongst his people. In 1877 he suffered a
great loss in the death of his wife – a true helper to him in all the
relations of life. From this time his strength gradually failed till the
end

Yet, though old in years, he was youthful in spirit. Under his
initiative the congregation in 1879 began a new movement in the
praise of the church. At that time Mr. John Mackie, who for the long
space of over thirty-five years had faithfully conducted the worship
of the charge, retired from the office precentor. A choir was formed
on his retiral, under the honorary leadership of Mr. Samuel Clark,
and hymns were introduced. Mr. Arnott was appointed as regular
precentor in 1887 – a duty which he was well discharged since. The
full "development " of this musical movement was reached in 1892,

when the congregation resolved to adopt an instrument in the public
worship.

The last effort of Mr. Cowan's life, as has already been remarked,
was getting up of a bazaar in 1885 to clear off the last vestige of the
debt on the church and manse. It was abundantly successful. The
sum of £600 was raised, and the congregation were left not only free
of debt, but with £300 in their hands. But though giving new life to

his church, it was death to him. The anxiety and worry connected
with it upped his small remaining strength. He never preached
again in the old pulpit, and after a lingering illness passed away with
messages of love and tenderness to his people.
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In the vacancy which followed the congregation were deeply
indebted to the services of one, whose absence to-night we deeply
regret, the Rev. John Miner of Ayr; always a true friend of the church.
Thecongregation by his care steered safely through the "shallauts " of
a vacancy, and in February, 1886, gave unanimous call to the Rev.
W.M. Macgregor, then engaged in work at Oldham.

Of Mr. Macgregor I do not intend to speak, for it is individious to
praise a man in his presence. Suffice it to say, that under his able
ministrations the congregation rapidly advanced in numbers and
prosperity. When Mr. Macgregor came, on the 18th May, 1886, the
mernbership was 255; when he left in July, 1890, it was 280. In fact the
only defect in Mr. Macgregor’s stay was that it was too short!
However, your loss wq5'(;lasgow's gain and as we get so much from
the Glasgow visitors in summer, it is only right that we should pay
our debts. It is also one consolation that, though gone, he has not
forgotten us. Indeed it is believed, that though so comfortable in his
new charge, he occasionally looks back with a kind sigh to the fresh
air and good friends he left behind him here.

And now I have done; for, not being the Apostle Paul, I do not feel
at liberty to speak about myself. I have only to thank you for the
hearty and unanimous way in which you called me in the November
of 1890, and that the kindness which you then showed has only
deepened with every year; so that I can only say that my work here
is an ever increasing joy. Perhaps I may be allowed to add that our
prosperity still continues. When I came in January, 1891, the roll, as

purged, showed a membership of 266: it now stands at about 320.

Our Finances, too, are in as healthy a state as any Chancellor of the
Exchequer need desire. The income of the congregation at the
Disruption was just about £86; last year it was £433.

May 1 add the hope, as I sit down, that with these outward tokens
of God’s blessing we are not without some inward signs of His
presence, and that God is blessing, not merely with the wealth of
outward prosperity but with the inward riches of character; and that
we shall go forward from this Jubilee meeting with a deepened sense

of loyalty and devotion to our great Master, the great King and Head
of our Church, for whom our Disruption fathers sacrificed so much.
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SECTION II

1893 to 1989

It is fitting that we celebrate, at this time, seventy-five years of
continuous congregational life in our present church building. We
give thanks with gladness and pride, because we are grateful for the
privilege of praising God together in one of the most beautiful of
sanctuaries. In doing so .we are conscious of our debt to those who
went before us, and especially those who had the vision and the will
to create a magnificent place of worship. Perhaps, then, we should
remind ourselves firstofall of what went before the great achievement
of 1914, and what kind Qf people built our traditions.

Christian worship goes.back for many centuries in Dundonald
parish, of which Troon was a part and our separate story begins
shortly after the change to a quoad sacra parish church in Troon, and
the ordination of James Fleming i-n 1837 as Troon's first parish
minister. At last Troon had its own Established Church, but all of the
1000 or so inhabitants of Troon were not establishrhent minded, and
many were suspicious of civil and secular influence in the courts of
the church. Talk of secession was in the air. The Disruption of the
Scottish Church in 1843 gave the opportunity and, in the event, gave
birth to a congregation that later became Portland Church. Our
founding fathers chose to follow Dr. Chalmers, and became part of
the Free Church of Scotland. Like the Covenanters before them,

adherence to principle meant great sacrifice, and often suffering,
particularly for ministers and their families, unsupported now by
parish stir>ends. In 1843, the Rev. Robert Ross started in Troon this
brave journey into the unknown. With the support of 2 elders and
their followers he occupied a two-storey building which still stands
at the North-Shore end ofBarassie Street, and which gave temporary
sanctuary at some time last century to three different denominations
which later became Troon Old, St. Meddan's, and Portland Churches.

This historic building has had an eventful history. When it ceased to
be a church it became in turn a school, hospital, Burgh Police Court,
and now a neglected Cleansing Department store.

12



Robert Ross was succeeded in 1846 by the Rev. Andrew H. Cowan
who, like his four successors, was both ordained and inducted in
Troon. By this time Troon was expanding, the population increasing,
and the little church quite inadequate. Andrew Cowan and his flock
were equal to the challenge and in 1856 the very handsome Portland
Street Free Church was cornpleted and opened, with seating for 450.
It was situated in the area between the present-day Woolworth’s and
John Menzies’ shops.

The next minister to occupy the'Portland Street pulpit was William
M. Macgregor, whose distinguished ministerial career was finally
crowned by appointment to the Principalship of Trinity College,
Glasgow. William Mackintosh Mackay (1891-98) and Alexander
Whyte (1898-1905) both put their early experience in Troon to good
use, and made their IIlark in Aberdeen and Dundee respectively.
And so, in 1906, to George L. BrandeD ordained and inducted on 29th
March of that year, and whose ministry was to include the eonception
and birth of the present Portland Church.

Mr. Brander was an able and popular rninister, with the result that
congregation numbers steadily grew, and within a few years of his
induction, with a roll now of almost 500, it was obvious that the

Portl,Ind Street building would very soon be quite inadequate. On
1301 January 1911, a meeting of the Deacons' Court passed this
unanimous resolution: " The

Deacons’ Court aye of the opinion
that the time has fully come when a
new chuych should be built , and they
hereby resolve to take such steps as

shall adequately accomplish that
object . ” This wasconfirmed shortly
afterwards by a meeting of the
congregation, and little time was
lost in proceeding with the remit.
A comrrrktee of fourteen members
of the church was elected to act in
concert with the office-bearers

towards the end. The first necessity
13
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was a suitable site, and that was
found at the corner of South
Beach and St. Meddan's Street.

By August of 1911 the purchase
oftheproperty,thenca11ed ' Auld
VaJe’,wasunder negotiationand
preparations soon under way to
obtain Presbytery and Assembly
permission for the sale of the
existing church in Portland
Street. It was also decided to sell

the manse at the top of St.
Font Side CarDing ;} ' . Meddan’s Street, which was no

longer entirely satisfactory. The new church site would cost £1500,
and the church itself was estimated to cost £7000. The sale of the old

church and manse would be likely to produce a small fraction of this
total and a very large sum would require to be made up by the
sacrifice and effort of members of the congregation. They were not
found wanting. In February, 1912, the Deacons' Court held a special
meeting to receive a deputation from the Woman’s Work Party, who
wished to have official permission for their project to raise funds by
a three-day Bazaar which they proposed to hold in August, 1913.

This historic meeting of the Deacons' Court was the first ever
attended by the Wornan’s Work Party, who had for years done great
service to the church, and they were graciously welcomed and
thanked for favours past, and hopefully, in the near future. These
worthy ladies who had the distinction of leading the fight to raise the
necessary capital and the determination to undertake this daunting
task, deserve special mention. They were:- Mrs. BrandeD Mrs.
Graham, Mrs. Currie, Mrs. Howell, Mrs. Muir, Miss Symington and
Miss McKenzie. They have an honoured place in this history because
it was their example which inspired the faint-hearted and
demonstrated that with hard work, enthusiasm and God’s help an

things are possible.
By August, 1912, the necessary Assembly permission to proceed
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with the new church scheme was granted. The building work alone,
comprising mason work, joinery, plumbing, plastering, slating,
glazing and painting was estimated to cost £7876-1741/,. Matters
were not made easier fqr the congregation when the winter of 1912
brought flooding to Portland Stredt, including the U.F. Church and
special collections were necessary to meet the exceptional expenditure
occasioned by flood damage. But the Woman's Work Party and their
enthusiastic supporters were undismayed. The 3-day Bazaar from
12th to 14th August became the eVent of 1913. The whole affair was
a marvellous example ofconlmunity and inter-church involvement.
ThousarIdg of people, the country gentry, Presbytery ministers,
members of others churches and the general public gave time, talent
and money most generously in support. The ladies had the use of
Troon Higher Grade School to house the affair and the large central
hall was transformed into the representation of an English village.

,/' Chancel
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Each day selections of music were given continuously by a

professional orchestra and the Boys’ Industrial School Band. The
Bazaar was opened on the first day, Tuesday 12th August, by the
Duchess of Portland, on the second day by Lord Rowallan and on the
third by Sir David Paulin. This great combined operation was amply
rewarded. Not only had it achieved a total of over £2000 –at that time
a vast amount of money - but it had made it possible for minister and
congregation to proceed with confidence and enthusiasm to the
building, in the months that followed, of one of Scotland's most
beautiful places of worship.

It was decided to open the church for inspection, seat-letting and
dedication in mid-April 1914 and to invite the Rev. William M.
McGregor, the most distinguished of Portland’s ministers, to conduct
the opening services, Mr. ' McGregor had left Troon for Renfield,
Glasgow in 1890 and later was Principal of Trinity College, Glasgow.
He had maintained all this time a live interest in the affairs of his old

Troon charge and he was th& natural choice of the Portland office-
bearers.

The outbreak of war in August 1914, immediately affected both
the church and those who worshipped in it. On 10th August the
Deacons' Court agreed to grant the use of the hall to the Red Cross
Society as a hospital. The old Portland Street hall became a Soldiers'
Club. In September the Court met in extraordinary circumstances to
deal with an unforeseen emergency. The minister had felt it was his
duty to enlist as a private soldier
and he had volunteered for service

"in the Scots Guard regiment of Lord
Kitchener’s army". He offered his
resignation, but the Court
unanimously agreed not to accept
this, and instead to fill the vacancy
by securing a Locum Tenens. The
nrembers recorded theirappreciation
of his self-sacrifice and expressed
pride and admiration for the noble
examplehehad set to the community .
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